ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE LABOR AND COVMERCE STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 14, 2007
3:07 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Kurt O son, Chair
Representati ve Mark Neuman, Vice Chair
Representative Carl Gatto
Representative Gabrielle LeDoux
Representati ve Jay Ranras
Representative Robert L. "Bob" Buch
Representative Berta Gardner

VEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO. 108
"An Act extending the termnation date for the Board of Marine
Pilots; and providing for an effective date.”

- MOVED CSHB 108(L&C) QUT OF COW TTEE

HOUSE BI LL NO. 49

"An Act relating to credit nenos, gift certificates, and gift
cards, and to wunclainmed property; and meking a violation of
certain gift card prohibitions an unlawful trade practice."

- MOVED CSHB 49(L&C) OUT OF COWM TTEE
PREVI OUS COMM TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 108

SHORT TITLE. BOARD OF MARI NE PI LOTS
SPONSOR(s): LABOR & COMVERCE

01/ 25/ 07 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 25/ 07 (H) L&C, FIN
02/ 14/ 07 (H) L&C AT 3: 00 PM CAPI TOL 17

BILL: HB 49
SHORT TI TLE: G FT CARDS
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) GATTO, GARDNER, SEATON, GRUENBERG

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -1- February 14, 2007



01/ 16/ 07 (H) PREFI LE RELEASED 1/5/ 07

01/ 16/ 07 (H) READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
01/ 16/ 07 (H) L&C, FIN

01/ 29/ 07 (H) L&C AT 3:00 PM CAPI TOL 17

01/ 29/ 07 (H) Heard & Hel d

01/ 29/ 07 (H) M NUTE( L&C)

02/ 05/ 07 (H) L&C AT 3:00 PM CAPI TOL 17

02/ 05/ 07 (H) -- Meeting Cancel ed --

02/ 14/ 07 (H) L&C AT 3: 00 PM CAPI TCL 17

W TNESS REG STER

CAPTAI N ROBERT W NTER, Pil ot

Sout heast Al aska Pil ots Associ ation

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 108.

RICK URION, Director

Di vision of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing,
Juneau O fice

Department of Commerce, Community, & Economic Devel opnent
( DCCED)

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 108.

AL CLOUGH, Deputy Comm ssi oner

Department of Commerce, Community, & Economc Devel opnent
( DCCED) ;

Chai rman, Board of Marine Pilots

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in Support of HB 108.

PAT DAVI DSON, Legislative Auditor

Legi slative Audit Division

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified and answered questions during the
heari ng on HB 108.

PAUL FUHS, Lobbyi st

for Sout hwest Al aska Pilots

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 108.

HEATH HI LYARD, St af f
to Representative Carl Gatto

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 2- February 14, 2007



Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented HB 49 on behalf of Representative
Gatto, joint prine sponsor.

RACHEL LEW S

Uncl ai med Property Section

Tax Divi sion

Departnent of Revenue (DOR)

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answered questions during the hearing on HB
49.

HUGH ASHLOCK, Part ner

D nond Center, LLC,

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 49.
ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CHAIR KURT COLSON called the House Labor and Commrerce Standing

Conmittee neeting to order at 3:07:14 PM Representati ves
Gardner, Neuman, Buch, LeDoux, and O son were present at the
call to order. Representatives Gatto and Ranras arrived as the

neeting was in progress.

HB 108- BOARD OF MARI NE PI LOTS

CHAI R OLSON announced that the first order of business would be
HOUSE BILL NO 108, "An Act extending the termnation date for
the Board of Marine Pilots; and providing for an effective
date. "

3:07:53 PM

CAPTAIN ROBERT W NTER, Pil ot, Sout heast Al aska Pilots
Association, said that he is in support of HB 108. He
encouraged the commttee to pass the bill as it is currently
witten.

3:08: 34 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUVMAN nmade a notion to adopt CSHB 108, Version
25-LS0445\C, as the working docunent. There being no objection,
Version C was before the Commttee.

3:08: 55 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 3- February 14, 2007



RICK URION, Director, D vision of Corporations, Business, and
Prof essi onal Licensing, Juneau Ofice, Departnment of Commerce,
Community, & Econom c¢ Devel opnment (DCCED), stated that he is in
favor of HB 108. During the auditing process, many questions
were brought up. He opined that these were answered
“satisfactorily.”

CHAI R OLSON and Representative Neuman pointed out that Version C
extends the sunset date to 2013.

MR. URION stated that he has “reservations about extending the
dates.” He explained that from tinme to time, statutes need
m nor revisions, which are difficult to address w thout a sunset
revi ew. If this date is extended, it will be nore difficult to
address the aforenmentioned issues as they cone up. I n response
to a question from Chair O son, he explained that the eight year
sunset date was recently inplenented. Prior to this, al
ext ensi ons were four years.

3:11:14 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER referring to the [sponsor statenent],
poi nted out that the extension is recomrended by the Division of
Legi sl ative Audit.

MR. URION opined that the extension “makes |less work” for the
Di vi si on.

3:11: 32 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked how nany tines the Board of Marine
Pilots (“Board”) has been extended. Additionally, she inquired
as to how nmany of these extensions have dealt wth other
concerns as well as the extension.

MR URION replied that he is not sure how many tines the board
has been extended. The sunset review has been in effect for 30
years. In response to additional questions, he stated that
boards often have unforeseen issues that need to be dealt wth.
When these issues conme up, the legislature is asked to amend the
| aw; however the Board of Marine Pilots has no problens at this
time.

3:13: 28 PM

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -4- February 14, 2007



REPRESENTATI VE NEUVAN asked if the regulatory changes can be
brought to the Admi nistrative Regulation Review Comm ttee.

MR URION replied that the changes would be statutory, rather
than regul atory. He explained that regulations can not be nade
W t hout perm ssive statutory | anguage.

MR URION, in response to a question from Representative Neunan
expl ai ned that board nenbers serve limted terns which are
“staggered.” Additionally, the nenbers serve at the will of the
Gover nor.

3:14:48 PM

AL  CLOUGH, Deputy  Comm ssi oner, Depart ment of Commer ce,
Community, & Econom c Devel opnent (DCCED); Chairnman, Board of
Marine Pilots (“Board”), stated that the Board supports Version
C. He explained that the statute which governs the Board “went
t hrough an extensive rewite” around 10 years ago. The majority
of changes are requlatory; however there are also statutory
i ssues that require attention.

3:16: 02 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO commented that this seens pretty "straight-
forward." He inquired as to the future of statutory changes.

MR, CLOUGH surmsed that Jlarger ships or <changing traffic

patterns may result in statutory changes. The board may not
have regulatory authority to deal wth the various issues that
may come up. In response to additional questions, he explained

that homel and security is becomng nore of an issue for the
Board, and is taken seriously. He does not anticipate that the
Board will request a statutory change to deal with the pilots’
nmet hod of getting on or off ships. However, he is unable to say
for sure. The U S. Coast CGuard is considering these issues, and
the Board is involved in discussions regarding ship and port
security.

3:19: 11 PM
MR CLOUGH, in response to a question from Representative

Neurman, stated that in regard to the extension, he is speaking
on behalf of the Board. The Board has not debated this issue

“in any great detail.” He stated that his personal opinion
“would be the longer, the better,” although he understands the
intent behind a shorter date. In response to an additional

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 5- February 14, 2007



guestion, he explained that the Board mamintains the ability to
conme before the legislature or the Admnistration to nmake
requests for |egislation.

3:21:42 PM

PAT DAVI DSON, Legislative Auditor, Legislative Audit Division,
Al aska State Legislature, explained that sunset audits are
required by statute and nust be nmade available to the commttees
consi dering the extensions. She explained that two years ago,
the statute regarding extensions was changed from “a period not
to exceed four years” to “a period not to exceed eight years.”
The four year audits were too expansive, and resulted in “very
few statutory change recomendations.” The Boards are health
safety, and wel fare boards, and would be a “high enough priority
for the legislature” to make any necessary changes. In regard
to the Board of Marine Pilots, she said, there were operationa
concer ns, such as drug testing. She explained that
“adm nistrative ti ghteni ng” was needed. In addi ti on,
i nvestigative backup for the marine pilot coordinator was also
needed. The Board uses a peer review as a way to ensure
conti nued conpetency. Interviews and surveys of marine pilots
have shown that this is not viewed as “particularly effective”
as a method of showing continued conpetence. The Division
recomrends that this be reeval uated. In addition, rate-setting
is a concern. Most occupational boards do not deal with this.
The Board has an equal nunber of marine pilots and industry
representatives. However, due to the ethics act, marine pilots

may recuse thenselves, while industry nenbers my not. Thus
the balance is not maintained. This concern resulted in the six
year recomrendation. In response to a question, she agreed that

she is confortable with the six year recomrendation

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO asked if a marine pilot has ever failed a
drug test, and if so, inquired as to the penalty.

M5. DAVIDSON replied that during the course of the npbst recent
audit, there were no drug test failures. She explained that the
Division is concerned wwth the nethod used to select individuals
for testing, adding that this concern is admnistrative in
nature. Wile the Coast Guard is “on top” of drug testing, the
Board is not “on top” of the testing program

3:27:51 PM

PAUL FUHS, Lobbyist for Southwest Al aska Pilots, explained that
the Southwest Pilots bring liquefied natural gas (LNG tankers

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 6- February 14, 2007



into Valdez, and handle cruise ships, as well as a variety of
ot her vessels. Previously, there were “huge battles” between
the industry and marine pilots. The state requires that
conpanies retain pilots, which results in “an wunusual | abor
relations situation.” The board has two pilots, two industry
menbers, and three public nenbers. He explained that if there
is a disagreenent regarding tariffs, the pilots and industry
menbers “cancel each other out,” and the decision is nade by the
public nmenbers. He then explained this process. He opined that
this works well as long as the public nenbers appointed are
“truly public nenbers.”

MR. FUHS encouraged the commttee to consider a “longer ternf
extension, as this provides stability. He added that a shorter
termmay result in attenpts to “sneak” itens in while the issue
is being considered by the legislature. There is a heightened
consideration of terrorism All of the pilot boards and the
majority of the industry are nenbers of the Marine Exchange of

Al aska, and vessels are tracked on a continuous basis. Thi s
information is reported to the U S Coast Guard. |In addition, a
marine distress signaling system in place. In regard to a

question from Chair O son, he explained that if a marine pilot
nmakes a m stake, he or she can be fired i mediately. He pointed
out that marine pilots nust attend a three or four year
training, nust keep up with all changes, and are tested on a
regul ar basis.

3:32:31 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUVAN noved to report CSHB 108, Version 25-
LS0445\C out of conmttee with individual recomendations and
t he acconpanying fiscal notes. There being no objection, CSHB
108(L&C) was reported from the House Labor and Commerce Standing
Comm ttee.

HB 49-3 FT CARDS

3:34: 08 PM

CHAI R OLSON announced that the final order of business would be
HOUSE BILL NO 49, "An Act relating to credit menos, gift
certificates, and gift cards, and to unclained property; and
making a violation of certain gift card prohibitions an unl awf ul
trade practice.”

3:34:18 PM

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -7- February 14, 2007



HEATH HI LYARD, Staff to Representative Carl Gatto, Alaska State
Legislature, joint prime sponsor of HB 49, noted that a
commttee substitute has been drafted to address concerns
brought up at the previous hearing.

3:35: 03 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN noved to adopt CSHB 49, Version 25-
LS0263\M Bannister, 2/6/07, as the working docunent. There
bei ng no objection, Version Mwas before the Conmittee.

MR. HI LYARD explained that Section 1 of Version M substitutes
“gift card” for *“gift certificate.” These two terns are now
i nt erchangeabl e, and “gift certificate” is renoved from statute.
Section 2 contains a technical change, anending AS 34.45.760(8)
to reflect the definition of *“gift card” found in AS 45.45. 940.
Section 3 anends AS 34.45.760(11) by adding “gift cards” to the
list of items included under “intangible property.” Section 4
stipulates that gift cards do not have an expiration date. In
addition, this section excludes gift cards awarded under a
| oyalty or pronotional program cards donated to non-profit
organi zations, and “open universe” cards. This section refines
the definition of “device” to clarify that this does not apply

to telephone calling cards. Finally, Section 4 alters the
definition of “gift cards” to renove references to “purchaser”
or “recipient.” Al refund requirenments have been renoved.
3:38:52 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS rel ayed a concern regarding |ocal tenants
in a mll setting. Referring to Section 4(a)(1), he inquired as
to what effect this would have on small, independent busi nesses.

MR HLYARD replied that all ©property, regardless of the

[expiration] date nust still be turned over to Unclained
Property after three years. He surmsed that small, |ocal
retailers carry a greater |ikelihood of going out of business,

whi ch creates a concern for the consuner.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO, speaking as a joint prine sponsor of HB
49, comrented that a retailer nmay be inclined to send a letter
rem nding the consunmer of the remaining value of the gift card.
He opined that this would nake both parties “w nners.”

3:44: 22 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 8- February 14, 2007



REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS questioned whether HB 49 would preclude
retailers fromconducting free enterprise.

MR. H LYARD replied that “in a broad sense,” HB 49 does preclude
this. However, he opined that exenpting cards issued under
pronoti onal or royalty pr ogr ans of fers flexibility to
busi nesses.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS commented that gift cards contain specific
provi sions which are an agreenent between the purchaser and the

seller. He said “l hate to see governnent, on principle, insert
itself into a free enterprise transaction between a purchaser
and seller.” The expiration date is a condition of transaction

He opined that businesses may not want to have gift cards that
last in perpetuity. He questioned whether this condition should
be the “privilege of the retailer,” and the “privilege of the
buyer ... to consunmate that transaction.” He opined that the
conditions between the buyer and the seller should not be a
concern of the recipient of the gift card.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO replied that the retailer may still offer a
refund for the dollar value of the card, after it has reached
its expiration. He pointed that the intent of HB 49 is to

protect consuners who are not aware that it is against the |aw
[for gift cards to have an expiration date].

3:50:19 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER offered her understanding that a gift
card with an expiration date would still beconme unclained
property if not redeened, and asked if this is correct.

MR. HLYARD replied that he is wunable to answer this. He
clarified that “open universe” cards may be used at a nunber of
retailers, and are not specific to large retailers.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS commented that while the intent behind HB
49 is good, it does not include protection for small businesses.
He opined that the governnent should not attenpt to protect
consuners in all situations, and business owners are entitled to
run busi nesses “the way that they see fit.”

3:55:22 PM
REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN stated that he shares these concerns, and

pointed out that bartering also occurs. He expressed concern
regarding the effect the aforenentioned gift card requirenents

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -9- February 14, 2007



may have on bookkeepi ng. He opined that if a business owner
wants to offer a gift card with a 2-year expiration date, he or
she has the right to do so. In response to a question from
Representative Gatto, he comented that iif the business is
required to refund the value of a gift card, it nmust then keep
the purchaser’s nane and contact information “on the books”.
This is a “good” and “workabl e” suggestion. However, this adds
an additional burden to businesses.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS offered his understanding that it is |lega
to “use or lose” leave tine that is accrued. He reiterated his
earlier statenent regarding businesses’ gift card policies. I n
response to a question from Representative Gatto, he expl ai ned
that his business sells and gives away gift certificates. Those
that are given away have bl ackout and expiration dates.

4:00: 39 PM

MR. HLYARD pointed out that in the original bill, the gift
cards had an expiration date of 7 years, which was changed in
response to concerns. He opined that an expiration date of

three years or nore is nore appropriate.

REPRESENTATI VE NEUVAN asked if the gift cards may be cashed in
for nonetary val ue.

MR. HILYARD replied this is up to the individual retailer. In
response to an additional question, he offered his understanding
that this is included in current |aw.

4:04: 04 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH opined that nore specific definitions would
make it easier to regulate each gift card according to purpose
and use, and suggested that this be considered.

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER of fered her understanding that currently,
a gift certificate that is used for pronotional purposes or
donated nmay expire. HB 49 applies to gift certificates
purchased at face val ue. She reiterated her understandi ng that
even if a gift certificate expires, any unclained portion nust
be turned over to Unclainmed Property. The nmerchant does not
keep the wunclainmed funds. She surmised that this does not
happen often, adding that those nerchants who understand the
current |aw do not oppose the expiration date prohibition.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 10- February 14, 2007



REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS suggested that Section 4(a)(1l) be anended
to include the follow ng conceptual amendnent “unless there is a
specific date of expiration set and agreed upon between the
buyer and seller, which nmay or may not have an effect on the
recipient of the gift card.” He stated that he does not want to
“encroach on the rights of the business owner, in [an] attenpt
to protect the consuner....”

4:08: 57 PM

CHAI R OLSON conmended the sponsor for changes nade in Version M
However, he said “it appears to ne, that we're trying to protect
people from thenselves, and from their own actions.” He
surm sed that Version M would not nove through the |egislative
process, [wi thout further revisions].

4:09: 56 PM

RACHEL LEW S, Unclaimed Property Section, Tax  Division,
Depart ment of Revenue (DOR), expl ai ned that currently,
regardl ess of whether or not a gift card expires, any unredeened
funds nust be turned over to Unclaimed Property. She stated
that an exchange of noney for goods and services is a
“contractual obligation.” Payroll checks and health insurance

rei mbursenents are ot her types of uncl ai med property.
4:12: 54 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN asked if a gift card purchased from a
franchise that goes out of business can be redeened at a
di fferent franchi se.

M5. LEWS replied that she is unsure; however, when a business
di ssol ves, any unredeened gift certificates are turned over to
Uncl ai med Property. In response to an additional question, she
explained that currently, the state is holding approximtely
$58,000 in wunclaimed gift certificates. She opined that
el ectronic gift cards are easier to buy and redeem which has
resulted in the current concern. |In response to a question from
Representative Gardner, she reiterated that all wunclainmed gift
cards and gift certificates nust be turned over to Unclained
Property, regardless of whether there is an expiration date.
The Unclainmed Property office has a conputer system which uses
tracking nunbers to track any gift certificates or gift cards,
if the name of the holder is unknown. In response to an
addi ti onal question, she stated that the unclained property nust
be turned in [three years] fromthe date of the sale.

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -11- February 14, 2007



CHAIR OLSON inquired as to the current conpliance rate.
M5. LEWS replied that she is unsure.

4:17: 05 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS t hanked Ms. Lewis for her testinony.

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN conmented that he agrees with the intent
of the | egislation.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO conmented that the intent of HB 49 is to
protect consuners that are “too trusting,” adding that the
unredeened anount may be small, which provides an opportunity
for proprietors to take advantage of consuners. He inquired as
to the process used for gift cards that are turned in to
Uncl ai med Property if the owner is unknown.

M5. LEWS replied that the business turns in a report listing

all available information, which is then entered in to a
sear chabl e dat abase. This database is available on the
internet, and is linked to a national database. In response to

a question from Representative Gatto, she explained that if the
dol lar anpbunt of the unclainmed property is $100 or nore, the
conpany is required to send a letter to the last known address
of the individual, to inform him or her that the unclained
property is avail able.

4:24:51 PM

HUGH ASHLOCK, Partner, Dinmond Center, LLC, stated that he is
concerned about how this would affect small businesses in
Al aska. He offered his understanding that HB 49 is ained at
| arger corporations, and opined that it wuld add an additiona
burden to small business. There are fewer small, privately
owned businesses in Al aska every year. Al'l owi ng businesses to
include a two year expiration date would help with accounting.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS noted that he shares these concerns. He
asked what changes would nake this less of a burden on smal
busi nesses, while honoring the intent of the sponsor.

4:29:10 PM

MR. ASHLOCK suggested that conmpanies be required to print a
warning on the gift card, or on conpany literature. He opi ned

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -12- February 14, 2007



that gift cards are a tool to bring customers into stores,

addi ng that he does not like to see gift cards go down in val ue
as a result of fees. He agreed that custoners need to be
pr ot ect ed.
4:31:43 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER inquired as to how many locally owned
busi nesses in the Dinond Center Mall have gift certificates with
expiration dates.

MR. ASHLOCK replied that does not have this information. \While
national chains have provisions regarding gift certificates,
| ocally owned businesses do not. Fam |y owned business sales
are difficult to track

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER of fered her understanding that 17 states
currently do not allow expiration dates on cash-value gift
cards. She opined that this is not “nearly as problematic as it
m ght seem”

MR. ASHLOCK reiterated that this would be a large burden on
locally owned businesses, and again suggested a two-year
expi ration date.

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER reiterated that regardl ess of whether an
expiration date is allowed, any unused portion of a gift
certificate nust be turned over to wunclainmed property after
three years. She opined that HB 49 provides businesses wth
additional flexibility by prohibiting expiration dates.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO, in response to a question, stated that he
would like to nove the bill through the conmittee process. He
added that he would be willing to address nenbers’ concerns.

4:37: 06 PM
REPRESENTATI VE RAVMRAS noved to report CSHB 49, Version 25-

LS0263\M out of commttee with individual recomendations and
t he acconpanying fiscal notes.

4:37:22 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN obj ect ed. He requested that «certain
concerns be addressed prior to noving the bill fromcommttee.
4:37:45 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 13- February 14, 2007



MR. HILYARD, referring to Section 4(a)(l), suggested renoving
“and,” and inserting “or.” Referring to Section 4(a)(2), he
suggested renoving “issuance” and inserting “[expiration].”

REPRESENTATI VE NEUVAN agreed that printing the expiration date
woul d be hel pful.

4:39:40 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS inquired as to the sponsor’s position on
t he af orenmenti oned changes.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO replied that he is not in favor of changing
the bill in this manner.

4:42:19 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUVAN wi t hdrew hi s obj ecti on.

CHAIR COLSON noted that there was no further objection.
Therefore, CSHB 49(L&C) was reported from the House Labor and
Commerce Standi ng Conmitt ee.

ADJ QURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

Labor and Commerce Standing Conmttee neeting was adjourned at
4:42:49 PM

HOUSE L&C COWM TTEE -14- February 14, 2007



